247
w/app

FILED

SID J. WHITE

11/5

OCT 13 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL EDENFIELD, :

Petitioner, :

vs. :

Case No. 81,889

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent. :

_____ :

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA
SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KAREN K. PURDY
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 856932

Public Defender's Office
Polk County Courthouse
P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD
Bartow, FL 33830
(813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On October 30, 1991, Petitioner, MICHAEL EDENFIELD, plead guilty in Hillsborough County Circuit Court to violation of probation in two cases. (R68) He was sentenced to a total of 20 years in prison as a habitual offender, ten years consecutive for each case. (R26-29,46-49,70-71)

In Circuit Court Case No. 90-11055, Mr. Edenfield was charged with carrying a concealed firearm occurring July 16, 1990, in violation of section 790.01(2), Florida Statutes (1989). (R8) On August 2, 1990, the Honorable Harry Lee Coe III signed a "Subsequent Felony Notice." (R14) On the same day, Mr. Edenfield plead no contest to the charge (R11-13) and was placed on 2 years probation as a subsequent felony offender. (R15-16)

In Circuit Court Case No. 90-14078, Mr. Edenfield was charged with grand theft of a motor vehicle occurring August 6, 1990, in violation of section 812.014(2)(c)(4), Florida Statutes (1989). (R33-34) On October 3, 1990, Judge Coe signed a "Subsequent Felony Notice." (R36) One day later, on October 4, 1990, Mr. Edenfield plead guilty as charged to the grand theft. (R37-38) The probation in 90-11055 (carrying concealed firearm) was revoked. (R24). Mr. Edenfield was sentenced to 2 and 1/2 years in prison (non-habitual), followed by 3 years probation for the grand theft. (R40-43). For the concealed firearm charge he received 3 years probation, consecutive to the prison but concurrent with the 3-year probationary term for the grand theft. (R22-24)

On October 30, 1991, Mr. Edenfield plead guilty to violating probation. (R68) Judge Coe revoked the probation and sentenced Mr. Edenfield to 10 years in prison as a habitual offender for the concealed firearm charge (90-11055), and a consecutive 10 years in prison as a habitual offender for the grand theft charge (90-14078). (R26-29,48-49,70-71)

Judge Coe stated that Mr. Edenfield was to be given "credit for time actually served." (R71) The judgment forms indicate that Mr. Edenfield received time served credit of 53 days for the concealed firearm charge (R28,59) and 196 days for the grand theft charge. (R48,59)

Mr. Edenfield timely appealed his 20-year habitual offender sentence. (R60) On May 19, 1993, the Second District Court of Appeal issued an opinion affirming Mr. Edenfield's sentence. The court cited Bradley v. State, 616 So. 2d 1156 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), which pertains to the forfeiture of gain time. Bradley is currently before this Court in Case No. 81,672.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in sentencing Mr. Edenfield as a habitual offender. Mr. Edenfield received a non-habitual prison term for the same charges on October 4, 1990. Therefore, the trial court could not legally sentence Mr. Edenfield as a habitual offender on October 30, 1991, after the violation of probation.

The trial court also erred in failing to give Mr. Edenfield credit for the prior 2-and-1/2-year prison term imposed October 4, 1990. Section 848.06(6), Florida Statutes, which allows the denial of credit for gain time only applies to crimes committed after its effective date of September 1, 1990. Further, the statute authorizes the Department of Corrections, not the trial court, the authority to forfeit the gain time.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING MR. EDENFIELD AS A HABITUAL OFFENDER.

Mr. Edenfield asked this Court to accept jurisdiction of this case due to a conflict of decisions regarding the effective date of the statute allowing forfeiture of gain time. This conflict is discussed in Issue II. Having accepted jurisdiction, this Court has the authority to fully review Mr. Edenfield's case. Bould v. Touchette, 349 So. 2d 1181 (Fla. 1977); see also Freund v. State, 520 So. 2d 556 n.2 (Fla. 1988).

Mr. Edenfield was sentenced to 20 years in prison as a habitual offender after violating his probation. This was an illegal sentence. One year prior to the sentencing hearing of October 30, 1991, Mr. Edenfield appeared in court on the same charges and received 2 and 1/2 years in prison, non-habitual, followed by probation. The Second District Court of Appeal recently held that after a non-habitual sentence is imposed, a defendant can not be resentenced as a habitual offender following a violation of probation. Burrell v. State, 610 So. 2d 594 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), see also Moorer v. State, 614 So. 2d 643 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993).

The penalty should not increase after a violation of probation, except as authorized by statute. See Williams v. State, 594 So. 2d 273 (Fla. 1992). When sentencing after a violation of probation, a defendant can receive anything he could have received

originally. § 948.06, Fla. Stat. (1991). The trial court found it was not necessary to sentence Mr. Edenfield as a habitual offender as evidenced by the non-habitual prison term given on October 4, 1990. Therefore, the trial court could not sentence as a habitual offender on October 30, 1991, after the violation. The Burrell case was correctly decided. Applying the Burrell holding in the instant case, the habitual offender sentence must be reversed.

Mr. Edenfield further contends that the habitual offender sentence is unauthorized in accordance with this Court's decision in Snead v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly, S 220 (Fla. April 8, 1993).

The record in this case indicates that Mr. Edenfield was not given correct information of the maximum sentence he could receive as a habitual offender when he initially entered his pleas. In the original written plea of no contest to the concealed weapon charge, the plea form signed by Mr. Edenfield on August 2, 1990, indicates that the maximum sentence for the charge is 5 years in prison. (R11) Similarly, the plea form signed by Mr. Edenfield on October 4, 1990, indicates a maximum prison sentence of 5 years for the grand theft charge. (R37) A defendant must be informed of the ramifications of habitual offender sentencing prior to entry of a plea. Ashley v. State, 614 So. 2d 486 (Fla. 1993).

The record also supports the conclusion that Mr. Edenfield was not given proper notice that he would be treated as a habitual offender. The record indicates that when Mr. Edenfield was sentenced on August 2, 1990, in Case No. 90-11055, the trial judge signed a document the same day entitled "Subsequent Felony Notice"

purporting to comply with the notice requirement of section 775.084(3)(b), Florida Statutes (1989). (R14,15-16) In Case No. 90-14078, the trial judge signed the "Subsequent Felony Notice" one day before sentencing on October 4, 1990. (R36,40-43)

Section 775.084(3)(b), Florida Statutes (1989) requires written notice be served on a defendant and his attorney "a sufficient time prior to the entry of a plea or prior to the imposition of sentence so as to allow the preparation of a submission on behalf of the defendant." In Edwards v. State, 576 So. 2d 441 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), written notice was provided the same day that the defendant was sentenced. There, the court held that the written notice provided on the day of sentencing was legally insufficient. In the instant case, both notices were legally insufficient. The notice in 90-11055 was signed the same day of sentencing as in Edwards, and the notice in 90-14078 was signed only one day before sentencing. The notice requirement is subject to a harmless error analysis. Massey v. State, 609 So. 2d 598 (Fla. 1992). However, in this case, the notice given in conjunction with the plea and sentencing cannot be harmless, because Mr. Edenfield was given erroneous information as to the maximum penalty at the time he signed the plea forms. The result in Edwards is consistent with the policy reasons expressed in this Court's decision in Ashley, wherein notice of intent to habitualize was required prior to entry of a plea in order to ensure voluntariness.

The defective notice renders the habitual offender status from August 2, 1990, and October 4, 1990, an illegal portion of those

sentences. A sentence which is illegal as a matter of law may be challenged at any time. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.800(a). A defendant need not make a contemporaneous objection to later challenge an illegal sentence or condition of probation. Ashley v. State, 614 So. 2d 486, 490 (Fla. 1993); Larson v. State, 572 So. 2d 1368, 1370 (Fla. 1991). A defendant may not confer on a trial court the authority to impose an illegal sentence by agreement, waiver, or failure to object. Clark v. State, 579 So. 2d 109, 110-111 (Fla. 1991). See also, Forehand v. State, 537 So. 2d 103, 104 (Fla. 1989) (contemporaneous objection not necessary to preserve review of unauthorized sentencing guidelines departure where error is apparent on the face of the record); State v. Whitfield, 487 So. 2d 1045, 1047 (Fla. 1986) (contemporaneous objection rule not required to preserve review of trial court's failure to make mandatorily written, clear and convincing reasons for upward departure from sentencing guidelines); State v. Rhoden, 448 So. 2d 1013, 1016 (Fla. 1984) (where juvenile statute provides for findings of fact, in order to make effective right of sentence review, contemporaneous objection rule is not applicable).

The defective notice of intent to habitualize and the signed plea forms indicating the maximum sentence of five years for each case means that here, as in Snead, the trial judge could not have originally considered a habitual offender sentence. Therefore, the habitual offender sentence was not authorized after the violation of probation.

Based on the principles discussed in Burrell, Snead, and Ashley, the trial court was required to sentence Mr. Edenfield to a non-habitual guidelines sentence after revocation of probation.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN
DENYING MR. EDENFIELD CREDIT FOR 2
AND 1/2 YEARS TIME SERVED.

In sentencing Mr. Edenfield to 20 years in prison for the two third-degree felonies, the trial court ignored the fact that Mr. Edenfield had previously been sentenced to 2 and 1/2 years in prison for the same charges. Mr. Edenfield was in effect given 12 and 1/2 years in prison for each charge¹ which exceeds the maximum statutory penalty even as a habitual felony offender.²

In State v. Green, 547 So. 2d 925 (Fla. 1989), this Court held that at a resentencing, after violating probation, Green was entitled to credit for time served on the original sentence as well as credit for gain time accrued.

In affirming Mr. Edenfield's sentence, the Second District Court of Appeal upheld the trial court's award of time actually served, which denied Mr. Edenfield credit for gain time he accrued during service of his 2-and-1/2-year sentence. In allowing retroactive forfeiture of Mr. Edenfield's gain time, the district court relied on its opinion in Bradley v. State, 616 So. 2d 1156 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993). Bradley concludes that amendments to sections 944.28(1)

¹ Although the 2-and-1/2-year sentence was imposed (pursuant to a split sentence) on the grand theft charge only, Mr. Edenfield must be given credit for the 2 and 1/2 years for both the grand theft and the carrying concealed firearm charge. Tripp v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S 326 (Fla. June 10, 1993).

² A third-degree felony is punishable by up to 10 years in prison as a habitual offender. § 775.084(4)(a)(3), Fla. Stat. (1989).

and 948.06(6), Florida Statutes, gave the trial court the authority to forfeit gain time upon revocation of probation for crimes committed after October 1, 1989.

Mr. Edenfield urges this Court to adopt a different interpretation of the 1989 legislation governing gain time forfeiture after a violation of probation.

In Chapter 89-526, Section 8, Laws of Florida, and in Chapter 89-531, Section 13, Laws of Florida, the legislature enacted substantially similar measures relating to forfeiture of gain time. These laws were enacted on the same day, June 28, 1989. Chapter 89-531, which originated in Senate Bill No. 12-B, states in section 19, "[t]his act shall apply to offenses committed on or after October 1, 1989." Chapter 89-526, which originated in House Bill No. 9-A, states in section 52, "[s]ections 1 through 9 of this act shall take effect September 1, 1990." Both measures purport to add a new subsection (6) to section 948.06, Florida Statutes. The first line of Chapter 89-526, Section 8, and Chapter 89-531, Section 13, is the same: "Subsection (6) is added to section 948.06, Florida Statutes..."

Although both Chapter 89-526 and Chapter 89-531 purport to add a new subsection (6) to section 948.06, the two versions of the new subsection (6) differ slightly in wording. The version in 89-526 begins, "Any provision of law to the contrary notwithstanding..." The versions in 89-531 begins, "Not withstanding any provision of law to the contrary..." The versions differ substantially, as well, in that 89-526 includes violations of control release, where-

as 89-531 refers only to violations of probation and community control. Appellant asserts that Chapter 89-526, Section 8, being the more inclusive version of the law, was intended by legislature to be the operative version of the new subsection (6) of section 948.06, Florida Statutes.

An indication of this legislative intent is shown by an amendment to section 948.06(6), Florida Statutes, found in Chapter 90-287, Section 11. The amendment, which was approved by the governor July 3, 1990, amends the Chapter 89-526, Section 8, version which begins "any provision of law to the contrary notwithstanding..." By referring to the Chapter 89-526, Section 8, version in amending section 948.06(6), the legislature evinced its intent that Chapter 89-526, Section 8, created the operative new subsection.

Under section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes (1991), statutes pertaining to criminal defendants shall be strictly construed; and "when the language is susceptible of differing constructions, it shall be construed most favorably to the accused." (Emphasis added.) In this case, the Senate has an earlier effective date than the House; but applying the rule of construction requires construing conflicting criminal statutes most favorably to the accused. Thus, the House's later effective date of September 1, 1990, would be more favorable to the accused as opposed to the effective date of October 1, 1989. This reasoning would apply to both of the Senate's amendments to this idea of broadening forfeiture of gain time in Chapter 89-531 -- § 944.28(1) as well as § 948.06(6). The conclusion is that forfeiture of gain time for

probation, community control, and control release violations became effective on September 1, 1990.

In Bradley, the Second District Court of Appeal held that the two versions of the same amendment to section 948.06(6), Florida Statutes (1990) were not really the same. The Second District Court of Appeal found the Senate version (Chapter 89-531) gave the authority to forfeit gain time upon a revocation of probation or community control to the trial court and the House version merely added control release to the subsection. Mr. Edenfield disagrees with these conclusions. There is nothing in the Senate version that states the trial court has the authority to forfeit gain time. On the contrary, neither version of section 948.06(6) says who is to decide whether or not forfeiture is in order.

In State v. Green, 547 So. 2d 925, 927 (Fla. 1989), this Court stated that "[t]here is no statutory authority for the court to initiate the forfeiture of gain-time by denying credit for accrued gain-time at resentencing." In Green, awarding and forfeiting gain time was solely a function of the Department of Corrections. Mr. Edenfield contends that the 1989 statutory amendments do not change the department's authority to forfeit gain time and do not extend this authority to the trial court. Neither version of § 948.06(6) says who is to decide whether or not forfeiture is in order. Once the House version added revocations of control release to the list of instances that allow forfeiture, any assumption about this section pertaining to the trial court's authority became invalid. Under § 947.146, Fla. Stat. (1989), determining violations and

revoking control release is the sole authority of the Control Release Authority. The trial court never sees these defendants upon revocation of control release and would have no opportunity to consider a forfeiture of gain time in this circumstance. This duty, under Ch. 947 of the Florida Statutes, along with duties pertaining to violations of parole belong to separate authorities/commissions created for that purpose. In a broader scope this is under the auspices of the Department of Corrections, not the trial court, as was clarified in the amendment to Section 944.28(1), Florida Statutes (1989) in Ch. 89-531.³

That amendment, according to section 20 of Ch. 89-513, was supposed to be effective October 1, 1989; but in the note in §944.28(1), Fla. Stat. (1989), the effective date is published as being September 1, 1990.

Case law on this issue is not very helpful. Although district courts have reached different conclusions on which amendment and which effective date is applicable to forfeiting gain time, none of the cases sets forth an analysis as to why their choice was made. Cases holding the September 1, 1990, date applicable are: Smith

³ (1) If a prisoner is convicted of escape, or if the clemency, conditional release as described in chapter 947, probation or community control as described in s. 948.-01, provisional release as described in s. 944.277, or parole granted to him is revoked, the department may, without notice or hearing, declare a forfeiture of all gain-time earned according to the provisions of law by such prisoner prior to such escape or his release under such clemency, conditional release, probation or community control, provisional release, or parole.

v. State, 613 So. 2d 603, 604 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) ["Green applies, notwithstanding section 948.06(6), Florida Statutes, (Chapter 89-526, Section 8, Laws of Florida, effective September 1, 1990), because the original underlying offense occurred on February 6, 1989, prior to the effective date of the statutory change on September 1, 1990"]; Ferguson v. State, 594 So.2d 864, 866 n.6 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992) ["Neither party addresses the applicability of section 948.06(6).... This section was effective September 1, 1990. Laws 1989, Chapter 89-526, Section 8, 11, 52"]; Thomas v. State, 605 So.2d 1286 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) ["...Green applies because appellant committed the original offense before September 1, 1990, the effective date of section 948.06(6)."]]

As to cases holding the effective date to be October 1, 1989, not only is there the problem of no discussion but there is the additional problem of internal inconsistency. Although the Second District Court of Appeal denied any conflict with its decision in Bradley and its decision in Toschlog v. State, 604 So. 2d 22 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); there is inconsistency with the decision it reached in another more recently issued opinion. In Bell v. State, 610 So. 2d 737 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), the Second District Court of Appeal awarded earned gain time accrued during a prior imprisonment in accordance with State v. Green, 547 So. 2d 925 (Fla. 1989), where an offense was committed on June 20, 1990. The court stated:

Section 948.06(6), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1990), has been enacted to counter State v. Green, 547 So. 2d 925 (Fla. 1989). The Appellant's offense was, however, committed before the effective date of the statute.

Although the opinion doesn't state on its face the date of the offense, undersigned counsel's office handled that appeal. The date of Bell's offense was June 20, 1990 (see Appendix B). Even this Court has issued conflicting statements on this matter. In State v. Carter, 553 So. 2d 169 at 170 n.2 (Fla. 1989), this Court, in a footnote, stated the effective date was September 1, 1990:

2. We note that the legislature recently amended sections 944.28 and 948.06, Florida Statutes, to add revocation of probation to the list of circumstances justifying forfeiture of gain-time. Ch. 89-526, §§ 6, 8, Laws of Fla. However, both of these amendments become effective September 1, 1990, id. section 52, and are not applicable to this case.

In another footnote in a revised opinion issued in Tripp v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S 326 n.2 (Fla. June 10, 1993), this Court cites to the other amendment--Ch. 89-531--and states the effective date is October 1, 1989:

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