IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE DEC 1 1993

By\_\_\_\_\_Chief Deputy Clerk

MICHAEL EDENFIELD,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 81,889

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

٢

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

## ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

## CHRISTOPHER M. SIERRA

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0977446 Westwood Center 2002 N. Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court properly imposed a habitualized sentence upon revocation of probation.

Petitioner is mistaken as to the effective date of the amendment to §948.06(6) which provides for the forfeiture of all gain time previously earned upon revocation of probation. Petitioner asserts that the effective date is September 1, 1990; however, it is the State's position that forfeitures for revocation of probation under §948.06(6) became effective for all offenses on or after October 1, 1989. Since Petitioner committed his offense in July, 1990, the forfeiture provision applies, and the trial court exacted the forfeiture in accordance with the statutory authority invested in it by §948.06(6), Florida Statutes (1989).

- 1 -

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

# WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SENTENCED MR. EDENFIELD AS A HABITUAL OFFENDER.

This Honorable Court accepted jurisdiction of the instant case due to a conflict of decisions regarding the effective date of the statute allowing forfeiture of gain time. In his initial brief, Petitioner requests this Honorable Court to review issues over which this Court has not accepted jurisdiction. As noted by Petitioner, this Honorable Court does have the authority of plenary review over any case before it. However, the authority of plenary review is a matter of discretion with this Honorable Court. Trushin v. State, 425 So. 2d 1126, 1130 (Fla. 1982); Freund v. State, 520 So. 2d 556, n.2 (Fla. 1988). This Honorable Court should recognize the function of the district courts as courts of final jurisdiction and refrain from using the authority of plenary review unless those issues effect the outcome of the petition after the review of the certified question. Bell v. State, 394 So. 2d 979 (Fla. 1981).

Turning to the merits of Petitioner's argument, Petitioner relies upon <u>Burrell v. State</u>, 610 So. 2d 594 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) and <u>Moorer v. State</u>, 614 So. 2d 643 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), for the proposition that after a non-habitual sentence is imposed, a defendant cannot be resentenced as a habitual offender following a violation of probation. However, both <u>Burrell</u> and <u>Moorer</u>, are distinguishable factually from the instant case. In both Burrell

- 2 -

and Moorer, the defendant's had been sentenced to a term in prison (non-habitual) followed by a term of probation as a habitual offender. In those cases, the district court ruled that this type of hybrid sentence, incarceration without habitual offender status followed by probation as a habitual offender, was inconsistent with the habitual offender statute and therefore improper. In the instant case, however Petitioner was initially sentenced upon conviction to two years of probation with a determination that he qualified as a subsequent felony offender. (R. 15-16) As noted by the Second District Court, "There is nothing inherently or per se illegal about a sentence of community control [or by extension probation] coupled with a determination that a defendant is an habitual felony offender." King v. State, 597 So. 2d 309 (2d DCA) review denied, 602 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 1992), approved, McKnight v. State, 616 So. 2d 31 (Fla. 1993). In addition, Petitioner failed to attack the initial sentence of community control coupled with a determination of habitual offender status on direct appeal. Therefore any error in the procedure that lead to the determination of the habitual offender status now complained of was waived by the lack of a timely appeal. King, id.

Under the habitual offender statute, Section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1990), a trial judge, having found a defendant to be an habitual felony offender, may elect not to sentence the defendant as an habitual offender if the sentencing judge decides that a sentence as a habitual felony offender or an habitual

- 3 -

violent felony offender is not necessary for the protection of The version of the habitual offender statute under the public. which Petitioner was sentenced requires no "findings" in order to enable the trial judge to "decide" not to impose sentence as a habitual felony offender. In previous versions of the statute, findings were necessary in order to not impose a sentence under the statute, whereas only a "decision" not to impose such a sentence was required by the statute under which Petitioner was It must be presumed that the legislature had a sentenced. purpose in choosing such contrasting terms of art to describe the trial judge's use or nonuse of the habitual offender statute as a sentencing tool. Clearly, the legislature intended to vest in the trial courts discretion to exercise leniency in regard to habitual felony offenders.

Section 775.084(4)(e), Florida Statutes (1991), is also applicable to the instant case. This section indicates that any sentence imposed under the habitual offender statute shall not be subject to the provisions of Section 921.001, Florida Statutes (1991), (the sentencing guidelines). However, should the trial court decide pursuant to Section 775.084 (4) (c), Florida Statutes (1991), not to sentence a person as a habitual felony offender, even though that person qualifies as an habitual offender, any sentence then imposed must comport with the sentencing guidelines or departure rules and any failure to do so would be the proper subject of appeal by the State as well as by the defendant. Fla. R. App. P. 9.140 (c)(1) (J). However, any

- 4 -

such appeal must be taken at the time the original sentence is imposed and within the time limits required by Fla. R. App. P. 9.140 (b)(2) and (c)(2).

This issue was addressed by the Second District Court of Appeals in <u>King v. State</u>, 597 So. 2d 309 (2d DCA), review denied, 602 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 1992). In <u>King</u>, the Second District concluded that once such sentence is imposed, and no appeal is then pursued, that sentence may not be later attacked when a subsequent sentence as a habitual felony offender is imposed, pursuant to Section 775.084 upon revocation of probation or community control. A sentencing judge may, upon revocation of community control or probation, impose any sentence that could have been imposed upon the defendant at the time the probation or community control was imposed. <u>Williams v. State</u>, 581 So. 2d 144 (Fla. 1991).

In accordance with controlling authority, the trial court committed no error by imposing an enhanced sentence pursuant to Section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1991) upon revocation of defendant's community control solely upon the defendant's habitualization at the time community control was originally imposed. No further findings other than the original habitualization of the defendant needed to have been made. <u>King</u>, id.

Petitioner contends that the habitual offender sentence imposed was unauthorized in the accordance with this Honorable Court's decision in Snead v. State, 616 So. 2d 964 (Fla. 1993).

- 5 -

However, Snead is factually distinguishable from the instant case. In <u>Snead</u>, a habitual offender sentence was not originally sought. The trial court in <u>Snead</u> originally sentenced the defendant under the guidelines rather than as a habitual offender. However, even in <u>Snead</u>, this court held that if the reasons for a departure sentence existed when the trial court initially sentenced the defendant, then upon revocation of probation the trial court may depart the guidelines based upon the original reasons which existed at the time of the initial sentencing. Since the trial court originally imposed a sentence of habitualized probation, a habitual sentence would seem to be proper.

Petitioner next contends that this court should reverse the sentence imposed by the trial court because he was given incorrect information on the maximum sentence he could receive as a habitual offender when he initially entered his pleas. Petitioner cites two plea forms signed by Petitioner and contained in the record indicating that he was instructed only on the non-enhanced sentences he could have received. (R. 11, 37) However, the record does not contain a transcript of the original plea colloguy or the original sentencing hearing. Therefore the record on this issue is incomplete. Petitioner's reliance on <u>Ashley v. State</u>, is therefore misplaced due to a factual distinction as well as a differing appellate posture. In <u>Ashley</u>, this Honorable Court made clear reference to portions of the appellate record containing the plea colloguy. In fact, this

- 6 -

Honorable Court specifically mentioned and quoted the portion of the plea colloguy which was relied upon as a basis for vacating the habitual offender sentence imposed on the defendant. While this Honorable Court to some extent relied upon the written plea signed by the defendant in Ashley, the opinion, read as a whole, indicates that proper weight must be given to the plea colloquy. Regardless of any written plea, this Honorable Court held that in order for a defendant to be habitualized following a guilty or a nolo plea, the following must take place prior to acceptance of the plea: 1) The defendant must be given written notice of intent to habitualize, and 2) the court must confirm that the defendant is personally aware of the possibility and reasonable consequences of habitualization. Ashley, at 490. Clearly, a trial court is unable to fulfill this function at any time prior to a plea colloquy. Because Petitioner has failed to provide a complete record upon which this Honorable Court may review the issue, and at least one plea entered by Petitioner indicates that he was charged as a habitual felony offender (R. 37), this Honorable Court must accept as correct both the judgment of the trial court and the District Court absent a completed record.

Finally, Petitioner alleges that the sua sponte notice of habitual offender treatment was ineffective because it was provided in one case one day prior to sentencing, (R. 36, 40-43) and in the second case on the same day of sentencing. (R. 14, 15-16) Petitioner claims that this alleged error cannot be harmless because he was given erroneous information as to the

- 7 -

maximum penalty at the time he signed the plea forms. However, as previously noted, Petitioner has failed to provide an adequate record upon which this court may determine the propriety of the trial court's actions.

#### ISSUE II

# WHETHER UPON REVOCATION OF PROBATION THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE APPELLANT'S GAIN TIME PREVIOUSLY EARNED.

Petitioner is mistaken as to the effective date of the amendment to §944.28(1), Florida Statutes (1989), which provides for the forfeiture of all gain time previously earned upon revocation of probation. Petitioner asserts that the effective date is September 1, 1990; however, it is the State's position that forfeitures for revocation of probation under §948.06(6), Florida Statutes (1989), became effective for all offenses committed on or after October 1, 1989. Since Petitioner committed his offense in July of 1990 (R. 8), the trial court properly exacted the forfeiture in accordance with the statutory authority invested in it by §948.106(6), Florida Statutes (1989).

Petitioner's argument is premised on his erroneous belief that the effective date of the amendments of §948.06(6), Florida Statutes (1989), authorizing forfeiture of gain time for revocations of probation and community control is September 1, 1990. On the contrary, the amendment authorizing the forfeiture of gain time upon revocation of probation or community control became effective for offenses committed on or after October 1, 1989. <u>See</u> Ch. 89-531, §13, §19, &20, Laws of Florida. The effective date of September 1, 1990, applies only to the additional provision which authorizes forfeitures for revocation of control release supervision. See Ch. 89-526, §8, §52, Laws of

- 9 -

Florida. The State believes the confusion arose because of the enactment of two (2) separate bills during the 1989 special legislative session both of which amended §948.06(6), Florida Statutes, but each for different reasons and with different effective dates.

In response to the decision in <u>State v. Green</u>, 547 So. 2d 925 (Fla. 1989), the Florida Legislature proposed legislation during the regular session in 1989, to allow for the forfeiture of all gain time while earned in prison on a probationary split term, upon revocation of the probation (or community control) and return to custody. <u>See</u> Ch. 89-531, §13, §19, §20, Laws of Florida. (Exhibit A).<sup>1</sup> Although this legislation was vetoed at the close of regular session, the amendments to §948.06(6), Florida Statutes, were again re-presented at the special legislative session which followed. <sup>2</sup> These amendments <sup>3</sup> were

<sup>1</sup> Exhibits will be listed as Exhibits A through D.

<sup>5</sup> The amending language contained in Ch. 89-531, §6, Laws of Florida, provided as follows:

944.28 Forfeiture of gain-time and the right to earn gaintime in the future.--

(1) If a prisoner is convicted of escape, or if the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Exhibit C is a copy of six staff analysis and economic impact statements for House Bill 300 which was proposed in the regular session of 1989. This bill was later vetoed by the Governor at the close of the regular session. The amendments to Section 948.06(6) contained in House Bill 300 (and the companion Senate Bill 728) were resurected during the special legislative session which followed the regular session, as Senate Bill 12-B. SB 12-B passed during the special legislative session and was signed into law on June 28, 1989. (See Exhibit D.) Those amendments are contained in Chapter 89-531, Laws of Florida.

effective for all offenses committed on or after October 1, 1989. Ch. 89-531, §19, Laws of Florida.

During the same special legislative session, the Florida legislature enacted a new early release mechanism to control prison overcrowding. This new mechanism, called control release, authorizes the Florida Parole Commission, sitting as the control release authority, to control the prison population. See Ch. 89-526, §1 - 9, Laws of Florida, now codified at §947.146, Florida Statutes. Because the control release mechanism authorized the Commission (authority) to establish periods of supervision to follow control release, the legislature proposed an additional amendment to §944.28(1), Florida Statutes, to allow for the forfeiture of all of gain time earned up to the date of revocation of control release. This additional amendment  $^4$  was

<sup>4</sup> The amending language of Ch. 89-526, §6, Laws of Fla., provided as follows:

944.28 Forfeiture of gain-time and the right to earn gain time in the future.--

(1) If a prisoner is convicted of escape, or if the clemency, conditional release as described in Ch. 947, probation or community control as described in §948.01, provisional release as described in §944.277, or parole, or control release as described in §947.146 granted to him is revoked, the department may, without notice or hearing,

clemency, conditional release as described in Ch. 947, probation or community control as described in \$948.01, provisional release as described in \$944.277, or parole granted to him is revoked, the department may, without notice or hearing declare a forfeiture of all gain-time earned according to the provisions of law by such prisoner prior to such escape or his release under such clemency, conditional release, probation or community control, provisional release, or parole.

specified to become effective on September 1, 1990, as that was the date the entire control release statute was to become effective. <u>See</u> Ch. 89-526, §52, Laws of Florida. The remainder of the amendments contained in Ch. 89-526 became effective October 1, 1989. Like Ch. 89-531, Ch. 89-526 was signed into law and filed with the Secretary of State's Office on June 28, 1989. (See Exhibit A.)

Based upon the State's understanding of these two bills and the effective dates established by the legislature, the State considers the forfeiture provisions enacted into law under Ch. 89-531---that is, those forfeitures which are authorized for revocation of probation, community control and provisional release--to be effective for all offenses committed on or after October 1, 1989; and the additional forfeiture provisions enacted into law under Ch. 89-526---that is the forfeiture which is authorized for revocation of control release---to be effective on September 1, 1990, the effective date for control release. (Exhibit D.)

The State's position is supported by both §1.04, Florida Statutes, which provides a rule for statutory construction of amendatory acts passed during the same session and case law construing that provision.

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